A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court erred in denying appellant's motion for a 

new trial. 

2. The trial court erred when it failed to investigate whether 

jurors were unable to hear trial testimony. 

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error 

1. Did the trial court commit reversible error by denying the 

appellant's motion for a new trial without first questioning the jury after 

receiving reliable information that some members did not hear one 

witness' testimony? 

2. Was defense counsel ineffective for failing to object to the 

trial court's failure to question the jurors? 

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Trial Testimony 

In October 2011, appellant Michael Bailey and Ashley Valle went 

to the Muckleshoot Casino. 3RP' 143, 152. Bailey and Valle met Daniel 

Chang at the craps table. 2RP 108-10. Chang had already lost $5,800 that 

evening and was trying to win his money back. 2RP 106-07. 

, This brief refers to the verbatim report of proceedings as follows: 1 RP -
May 3, 2012; 2RP - May 7, 9, 24, 29, 30, 2012, June 5, 2012; 3RP - June 
4,2012 and August 17,2012. 
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Chang initially believed Bailey and Valle were together. 2RP 110, 

309. Valle denied Bailey was her boyfriend. 2RP 116, 124. Chang said 

Valle was friendly, but described Bailey as "standoffish." Chang did not 

get Bailey's name. 2RP 111. 

Eventually, Bailey left the craps table. Valle stayed at the table 

with Chang. 2RP 112. Chang drank three or four alcoholic drinks and bet 

between $100 and $500 per hand at the craps table. 2RP 105, 115. At one 

point, Chang had about $5,600 worth of casino chips in his pants pocket. 

2RP 120-21. 

Chang flirted with Valle and the two exchanged telephone 

numbers. 2RP 116-17, 160, 223. On three occasions, Valle left Chang 

alone at the craps table for about 20 minutes. 2RP 112-16. Eventually, 

Chang and Valle left the table together. 2RP 118-19. Valle told Chang 

her friend was not doing well but did not elaborate. 2RP 220-21. Chang 

made plans to meet up with Valle again after she "took care of some 

things." 2RP 119. 

About 20 minutes later, Valle text messaged Chang and told him to 

meet her in the casino parking garage. 2RP 121. On his way to the 

parking garage, Chang encountered Bailey in the casino elevators. 2RP 

Bailey asked Chang, "why are you talking to my girl? Why are you 

messing with her?" Bailey made no verbal threats, but Chang found 

-2-



Bailey's "mannerisms" threatening. When the elevator opened Chang told 

security guards that Bailey was harassing him. Chang left and continued 

toward the parking garage. 2RP 122-25; 3RP 11. About 25 minutes later, 

Valle picked Chang up in her car. 2RP 125. Chang did not tell Valle 

about his encounter with Bailey in the elevator. 3RP 19, 160. 

Chang testified that Valle drove toward her house about one mile 

from the casino. 2RP 127-29. After she parked she began text messaging 

with someone and smoking marijuana. Chang became uncomfortable with 

the drug use and decided to get out of the car. 2RP 129-30; 3RP 41,51. 

Chang was about five feet away from the car when he was 

approached from behind by a man with a knife. The man said he would 

kill Chang ifhe moved. Chang could not see the man's face. 2RP 131-32. 

Chang tried to run away but fell when the man grabbed the hood of 

his sweatshirt. 2RP 133, 233. The man said he would kill Chang if he 

looked at him or ran away again. 2RP 134, 38. The man put the knife to 

Chang's throat and told him to take off his pants. 2RP 137-38. At that 

moment Chang recognized Bailey's voice from the elevator encounter. 

2RP 136, 236; 3RP 135. Chang took his pants off and gave them to 

Bailey. 2RP 135, 138. Chang had a wallet with credit cards, keys, cell 

phone, and poker chips in his pant pockets. 2RP 150, 310, 322; 3RP 133. 

-3-



Around the same time, Kisha Brown was awoken to a man yelling 

"get the jeans off or I'll cut you." 2RP 31-32, 36. She heard a second 

male voice quietly saying he could not. 2RP 31-32, 45. Brown called 911 

and told police she was hearing a "rape." 2RP 32, 37, 39. Brown never 

looked out her window to identify the people. 2RP 32, 28. 

After Bailey disappeared, Chang began running down the street. 

Chang knocked on several neighborhood doors before Leonard Weekley 

opened his door and let him inside. 2RP 55, 138-40; 3RP 49, 63. Chang 

was naked from the waist down and had bloodied hands. 2RP 50. 

Weekley's wife called 911. 2RP 50. Chang told Weekley he had been at 

the Muckleshoot casino gambling, went home with a girl, and was ordered 

to take off his pants by black male with a knife. 2RP 51, 55. Weekley did 

not see any cuts on Chang's body. 2RP 58. 

Chang spoke with Detective Buie Arneson the next day. 3RP 91. 

He identified Valle in a photo montage. 3RP 94. Chang did not positively 

identify Bailey in a photo montage. 3RP 98, 134. He identified Bailey's 

picture along with two others as being "closest to the person" who took his 

pants. 2RP 237-38; 3RP 98, 134-35. Arneson saw a red mark on the left 

side of Chang's neck which he believed was consistent with a knife mark. 

3RP 101. Chang acknowledged he was not cut by Bailey. 2RP 290-91. 
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Police recovered several text messages sent between Bailey and 

Valle's telephone numbers. 3RP 102-03, 107. Outgoing messages from 

Bailey's telephone number read: "I got my eye on u," "no kissing in the 

mouth," "Make sure that on him first," and "does he have the cpis on 

him?" Messages sent to Bailey's telephone number read: "Just do it" and 

"Hury." 3RP 108-14. 

Based on this evidence, Bailey was charged with one count of first 

degree robbery with a deadly weapon. 1RP 2; CP 36. Before Bailey's 

trial, Valle pleaded guilty to two counts of first degree theft and one count 

of second degree assault. lRP 94-95; 3RP 150, 170-72. 

Valle's testimony at Bailey's trial differed from Chang's account 

of what happened the night of the incident. Valle explained that on one of 

the occasions she left Chang alone at the craps table she drove Bailey to 

Auburn Way and dropped him off to meet his friend Nick. 3RP 146-48, 

161-62. 

Chang called Valle repeatedly and said he was too intoxicated to 

drive. 3RP 162. She went back to the casino and picked Chang up. 

Chang was intoxicated. 3RP 148, 162. When Chang said he wanted to 

speak with Valle she parked the car about a block from her house. 3RP 

148-49, 164. 
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Chang became sexually aggressive and took his pants off in the 

car. 2RP 377; 3RP 152, 163. He asked Valle if she was an escort. 3RP 

159. Chang began masturbating and pulled Valle's head toward him. 2RP 

372; 3RP 165. When Valle pushed Chang off her he took the car keys out 

of the ignition. Chang said he would give Valle the keys back if she 

participated in oral sex with him. 3RP 165-66. When Valle refused, 

Chang became mad and got out of the car without his pants. 3RP 166. 

Valle then took the car keys out of Chang's hand and drove away, leaving 

Chang outside. 3RP 166-67. Valle stopped the car a short time later and 

threw Chang's pants in the garbage. She did not take anything from the 

pant pockets before hand. 3RP 169. 

Valle explained that although she signed a statement as part of her 

guilty plea that said she assisted Bailey in intentionally robbing Chang that 

was not what happened. 3RP 150, 170-72. Valle said she pled guilty 

because she was scared about being in trouble. 3RP 170. 

Valle acknowledged text messaging Bailey earlier in the evening, 

but denied doing so while she was in the car with Chang. 3RP 149. She 

denied sending the "just do it" and "hury" text messages. 2RP 378. Valle 

denied seeing Bailey after she parked the car with Chang inside. 3 RP 149. 

Valle denied seeing Bailey attack Chang with a knife or calling him to 
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come do so. 2RP 378; 3RP 149. Chang's cell phone, keys, and credit 

cards were not used after they were taken. 2RP 322. 

After hearing the above, a King County jury found Bailey guilty as 

charged. CP 70; 2RP 505-08. The jury also found Bailey was armed with 

a deadly weapon during the robbery. CP 69. The trial court sentenced 

Bailey to standard range prison sentence of 51 months. The court also 

imposed a consecutive 24-month deadly weapon enhancement. CP 84-92; 

3RP 203. Bailey timely appeals. CP 94. 

2. New Trial Motion 

Before sentencing, Bailey's attorney moved for a new trial under 

CrR 7.5(a), alleging several juror members disclosed after the verdict that 

"half the jury" was unable to hear Valle's testimony. CP 71-78. 

Declarations from defense counsel and a defense intern stated one juror 

informed the bailiff of the difficulty hearing the testimony. CP 75-78. It 

is unclear what the bailiff did with this information. 3RP 176. When 

Valle's testimony was not repeated, those jurors who failed to hear it 

relied on the notes of the jurors who had. CP 75-78. 

The State did not dispute the veracity of counsel's motion and 

declaration, but maintained Bailey was not denied a fair trial because there 

was no evidence the jurors were incorrectly informed from the notes what 

Valle's testimony was. Supp. CP _ (sub no. 67, State's Response to 
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Defendant's Motion for New Trial, dated 8117112, at 4). The State 

asserted that given the other evidence at trial, it was not 

"overwhelming[ly] significan[t]" that some jurors may not have heard 

V aIle's testimony. Id. at 5. 

During oral argument on the motion, defense counsel reiterated 

that Valle's testimony was crucial to the defense theory that Bailey was 

not involved in the alleged robbery, but that Chang had fabricated his 

story about being robbed after Valle fled with his pants in response to his 

attempted sexual assault of her. 3RP 176-180. Defense counsel 

distinguished the State ' s reliance on State v. Denney,2 noting that in that 

case the testimony that was not heard had no bearing on the verdict. 3RP 

178-79. Counsel noted that had the jurors disclosed their inability to hear 

the testimony before the verdict, curative steps could have been taken. 

3RP 192. Instead, counsel noted, "Mr. Bailey made decisions about 

whether or not he should testify based on the evidence that we thought had 

been properly presented to the jury." 3RP 176. 

In response, the State maintained Bailey received a fair trial. 3RP 

181,193. The State argued that even if some jurors did not hear Valle ' s 

testimony they could still fully evaluate the issue of guilt based on 

Bailey's closing argument, Valle's demeanor, her plea agreement 

2 State v. Denney 4 Wn. App. 604,605,483 P.2d 141 (1971). 
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statement, and the notes of jurors who had heard the testimony. 3RP 181-

83. The State said the jury's failure to submit a written request to the 

court requesting to listen to Valle's testimony again demonstrated they 

were satisfied they had all the necessary information. 3RP 187. However, 

the State acknowledged Denney was not directly on point, because "Ms. 

Valle's testimony was more central to the decision at issue," than was the 

testimony at issue in Denney. 3RP 184-85. 

The defense recognized that "as far as I could tell" jurors were able 

to observe Valle's demeanor regardless of whether they heard her 

testimony. 3RP 190. Defense counsel noted however, that Valle's 

explanation of her guilty plea statement was an important part of her 

testimony. 3RP 188. As for why the jury did not submit a written request 

to hear Valle's testimony again, defense counsel noted that "after they 

talked to the bailiff they realized they were not going to be able to hear 

that testimony again." 3 RP 191. 

Responding to the court's questions, defense counsel noted he was 

not certain what percentage of Valle's testimony the six jurors did not 

hear. It was his "impression" that the six jurors failed to hear any of the 

testimony, but acknowledged none of the "9 or 10" jurors with whom he 

spoke was specific about this point. 3RP 189. The prosecutor had a 
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different impression: "I think we just don't know what, exactly, those six 

heard and did not hear." 3RP 189. 

The trial court denied Bailey's motion, reasoning that although 

"this is a case that's different from State v. Denney," Bailey had not 

proven that he was denied a fair trial or that the decision was contrary to 

law. 3RP 195. 

The Court noted jurors did not request to hear Valle's testimony 

again and could assess her demeanor even if they could not hear her 

testimony. The court noted defense counsel argued his theory in closing 

argument and other evidence supported the verdict, including Valle's 

guilty plea statement and another witness who testified to hearing a man 

order someone to take his pants off. 3RP 196. 

Finally, the court noted, "Nor do we have a percentage indicating 

who heard what. We don't know if those six people didn't hear Ms. Valle, 

according to them, understood 10 percent, 20, we don't know what they 

heard; and I cannot conclude that in this courtroom, with an amplified 

system, that they didn't hear anything." 3RP 196. 

Defense counsel asked whether the "Court would order the jury 

room to give contact information to the defense so that we can investigate 

how much the - at what percentage the jurors actually did hear of that 

testimony?" The Court told defense counsel to "come back and see me" if 
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the jury room told him such an order was needed. 3RP 197. There is no 

evidence such an order was ever obtained. 

C. ARGUMENT 

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN 
DENYING BAILEY'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL WITHOUT 
ADEQUA TEL Y INQUIRING INTO WHETHER 
JURORS' WERE UNABLE TO HEAR CRUCIAL TRIAL 
TESTIMONY 

Both the United States and Washington constitutions guarantee the 

right to a fair and impartial jury trial. U.S. Const. amend. V, VI; Wash. 

Const. art. I, §§ 3, 22. The failure to provide defendant with a fair trial 

violates minimal standards of due process. State v. Davenport, 100 Wn.2d 

757,762,675 P.2d 1213 (1984); State v. Jackson, 75 Wn. App. 537, 543, 

879 P.2d 307 (1994), rev. denied, 126 Wn.2d 1003 (1995). Under CrR 7.5, 

trial courts are authorized to grant a new trial in several enumerated 

circumstances, including whenever a trial irregularity prevented the 

defendant from receiving a fair trial. CrR 7.5(a)(5). The rule provides in 

relevant part as follows: 

(a) Grounds for New Trial. The court on motion of a 
defendant may grant a new trial for anyone of the 
following causes when it affirmatively appears that a 
substantial right of the defendant was materially affected: 

(1) Receipt by the jury of any evidence, paper, 
document or book not allowed by the court; 
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(2) Misconduct of the prosecution or jury; 

(3) Newly discovered evidence material for the 
defendant, which the defendant could not have discovered 
with reasonable diligence and produced at the trial; 

(4) Accident or surprise; 

(5) Irregularity in the proceedings of the court, jury 
or prosecution, or any order of court, or abuse of discretion, 
by which the defendant was prevented from having a fair 
trial; 

(6) Error of law occurring at the trial and objected 
to at the time by the defendant; 

(7) That the verdict or decision is contrary to law 
and the evidence; 

(8) That substantial justice has not been done. 

When the motion is based on matters outside the record, the 
facts shall be shown by affidavit. 

CrR 7.5. 

A trial court's ruling on a motion for a new trial is reviewed for an 

abuse of discretion. State v. Balisok, 123 Wn.2d 114, 117, 866 P.2d 631 

(1994). The court abuses its discretion when its decision is manifestly 

unreasonable or based on untenable grounds. State ex reI. Carroll v. 

Junker, 79 Wn.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971). A court's decision is 

manifestly unreasonable if it is outside the range of acceptable choices, 

given the facts and the applicable legal standard. In re Marriage of 

Littlefield, 133 Wn.2d 39, 47, 940 P.2d 1362 (1997) (citing State v. 
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Rundquist, 79 Wn. App. 786, 793, 905 P.2d 922 (1995), rev. denied, 129 

Wn.2d 1003 (1996)). "The range of discretionary choices is a question of 

law and the judge abuses his or her discretion if the discretionary decision 

is contrary to law." State v. Neal, 144 Wn.2d 600, 609, 30 P.3d 1255 

(2001). 

a. The Court Had A Duty To Voir Dire The Jury 

The trial court abused its discretion by denying the motion without 

further investigation. Although the trial court acknowledged the 

importance of Valle's testimony, it nonetheless denied the motion because 

there was no "percentage indicating" how many jurors heard what portions 

of Valle's testimony. The Court could have determined that percentage by 

questioning the jurors. An essential element of a fair trial is a jury capable 

of deciding the case based on the evidence before it. State v. Momah, 167 

Wn.2d 140, 152,217 P.3d 321 (2009). A defendant is denied due process 

when a juror cannot hear all the relevant evidence. State v. Turner, 186 

Wis.2d 277,284,521 N.W.2d 148 (Wis. App. 1994). "A juror who has 

not heard all the evidence in the case is grossly unqualified to render a 

verdict." People v. Simpkins, 16 A.D.3d 601, 792 N.Y.S.2d 170 (N.Y. 

App. Div. 2005). 

Because cases discussing a juror's inability to hear a witness's 

testimony are fact specific, there is no case factually identical with 
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Bailey's case. Cases that address sleeping jurors are instructive. See State 

v. Kettner, 337 Wis.2d 461, 474, 805 N.W.2d 132 (recognizing 

fundamental inquiry in sleeping juror and hearing-impaired juror cases is 

the same). 

In State v. Hampton, the defendant moved for a mistrial because a 

juror slept during testimony. 201 Wis.2d 662, 666-67, 549 N.W.2d 756 

(Wis. App. 1996). The trial court denied the motion without questioning 

the juror. Hampton, 201 Wis.2d at 667. The Court of Appeals remanded 

for an evidentiary hearing to allow the trial court to conduct a hearing to 

determine the length of time the juror was sleeping, the importance of the 

testimony missed, and whether such inattention prejudiced the defendant. 

Hampton, 201 Wis.2d at 673-74. The Court reasoned that since the State 

conceded the juror had been sleeping, the trial court erroneously exercised 

its discretion by summarily foreclosing further inquiry. Hampton, 201 

Wis.2d at 671-72. 

In People v. South, the trial court committed reversible error in 

failing to conduct proper inquiry after defense counsel informed the court 

a juror was sleeping, even though the court found the juror had closed his 

eyes for only short periods of time. 177 A.D.2d 607, 607-08, 576 

N.Y.S.2d 314 (N.Y. App. Div. 1991). Under these circumstances, the trial 

court should have conducted "a probing and tactful inquiry to determine 
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whether juror number 9 was unqualified to render a verdict based upon her 

apparent sleeping episodes." South, 177 AD.2d at 608. 

In People v. Valerio, the trial court committed reversible error in 

failing to inquire of two jurors, where the court noted they were dozing 

during a read back of testimony and defense counsel suggested the court 

conduct an in camera inquiry of one juror whose eyes were closed and 

seemed asleep. 141 AD.2d 585, 586, 529 N.Y.S.2d 350 (N.Y. App. Div. 

1988). Valerio recognized a defendant is deprived of his constitutional 

right to a jury trial and entitled to a new one when the court unjustifiably 

fails to investigate an allegedly sleeping juror and allows that juror to 

deliberate. Valerio, 141 AD.2d at 586. " It is incumbent upon the trial 

court to conduct a probing and tactful inquiry to determine whether a 

sworn juror is unqualified. The court may not speculate upon the juror' s 

qualifications but must ascertain the juror's state of mind and must place 

its reasons for excusing or retaining the juror on the record." Valerio, 141 

A.D.2d at 586. 

In Commonwealth v. Braun, the judge abused his discretion by 

failing to voir dire the juror where there was a real basis for concluding the 

juror was sleeping during testimony and the judge' s instructions. 74 

Mass. App. Ct. 904, 905, 905 N.E.2d 124 (Mass. App. Ct. 2009). "That 

the judge was not certain whether the juror was sleeping and was 
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unwilling to make such a finding should not have ended the inquiry. 

Uncertainty that a juror is asleep is not the equivalent of a finding that the 

juror is awake." Braun, 74 Mass. App. Ct. at 905. 

By not conducting a voir dire, the trial court In Bailey's case 

"prevented himself from obtaining the information necessary to a proper 

exercise of discretion." Braun, 74 Mass. App. Ct. at 905; see also State v. 

Reevey, 159 N.J. Super. 130, 133-34, 387 A.2d 381 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. 

Div. 1978) (defense counsel informed court juror was sleeping; trial judge 

should have conducted a hearing and questioned the juror as to whether 

she was in fact dozing or sleeping, or whether she was listening to the

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