NO. 69217-8-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL BAILEY,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE JUDGE LEROY MCCULLOUGH

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG
King County Prosecuting Attorney

AMY MECKLING
Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney
W554 King County Courthouse
516 3rd Avenue
Seattle, Washington 98104
(206) 296-9650

Vertical stamp and handwritten mark on the right side of the page.

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

C. ARGUMENT

1. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT DENIED BAILEY'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL.

In a post-verdict motion for a new trial, Bailey submitted two identical affidavits that contained vague hearsay regarding the jurors' ability to hear witness Valle. He argues that these affidavits imposed upon the trial court an affirmative obligation to *sue sponte* bring the jurors back to court and conduct an evidentiary hearing regarding what portion of the testimony they did or did not hear.

This argument should be rejected. Bailey did not make a sufficient affirmative showing that he received an unfair trial, or that an evidentiary hearing was warranted. As such, the trial court's denial of his motion for a new trial was a proper exercise of discretion.

For certain enumerated reasons, a trial court may grant a defendant a new trial "when it affirmatively appears that a substantial right of the defendant was materially affected." CrR 7.5(a). Those reasons include:

(2) Misconduct of the prosecution or jury;

...

(5) Irregularity in the proceedings of the court, jury or prosecution . . . by which the defendant was prevented from having a fair trial;

...

(7) That the verdict or decision is contrary to law and the evidence;

(8) That substantial justice has not been done.

CrR 7.5(a). When a motion for new trial is made "based on matters outside the record, the facts shall be shown by affidavit." CrR 7.5(a).

A defendant is entitled to a new trial only where he can show that he was so prejudiced that nothing short of a new trial can ensure that he will be treated fairly. State v. Pete, 152 Wn.2d 546, 552, 98 P.3d 803 (2004) (citations omitted). A trial court's decision to grant or deny a motion for new trial is a matter within its sound discretion, and will be

reversed only for abuse of that discretion. State v. Copeland, 130 Wn.2d 244, 294, 922 P.2d 1304 (1996) (citing State v. Balisok, 123 Wn.2d 114, 117, 866 P.2d 631 (1994)). An abuse of discretion occurs only when *no reasonable judge* would have reached the same decision. Pete, 152 Wn.2d at 552 (citing State v. Bourgeois, 133 Wn.2d 389, 406, 945 P.2d 1120 (1997)).

Ashley Valle testified on June 4th and June 5th. 5RP 141-71; 6RP 368-87. The trial was audio-recorded on June 4th, and a court reporter was present on June 5th. A microphone was used to amplify Valle's voice during the entirety of her testimony. 5RP 142, 189-90, 196; 6RP 373, 382. On one occasion on June 4th, during direct examination, the prosecutor asked Ms. Valle to speak up. 5RP 148. Also, once during cross-examination that day, the prosecutor stated he had not heard Valle's answer to a question, and she was asked to repeat it. 5RP 159. On one occasion on June 5th, the court asked Valle to keep her voice up. 6RP 370. At no time during any portion of Valle's testimony, did any of the jurors indicate that they had a problem hearing Valle. At no time did Bailey or his attorney complain that they could not hear Valle. The trial record is utterly silent as to any difficulty the jury may have had hearing Valle.

In support of a post-verdict motion for new trial, Bailey's attorney and her intern submitted affidavits stating that after the verdict, they had

spoken with “several” jurors. CP 75, 77. According to the affidavits, one of the male jurors said that “half of them could not hear Ashley Valle during her testimony.” CP 76-77. The affidavits also indicated that one of the female jurors said that they had told the bailiff about the issue. CP 76, 78. Finally, the affidavits stated that these two jurors relied on the notes of their fellow jurors when they realized that testimony would not be repeated. Id.

The affidavits were not from the jurors themselves, but instead were hearsay declarations from counsel about what they were told. The affidavits contained no specific information regarding how many jurors had trouble hearing Valle, or what part of Valle’s testimony they were unable to hear—whether it was all of the testimony, a portion of it, and if so, what portion. In sum, the information was second-hand and vague. Nonetheless, Bailey argues that the trial court “failed to exercise its fact-finding discretion” by not calling the jurors back to court and conducting an evidentiary hearing.

Bailey points to no persuasive authority that the trial court had an obligation *post-verdict* to conduct an evidentiary hearing based on the vague hearsay information that he presented. Because Bailey did not make a strong affirmative showing that a juror missed crucial testimony,

the court properly exercised discretion when it denied his motion without further proceedings.

A similar fact pattern appears in only one published Washington case, State v. Denney, 4 Wn. App. 604, 483 P.2d 141 (1971). After Denney was convicted, he moved to arrest judgment based on his attorney's affidavit that a juror had informed the attorney post-verdict that he had not heard one of the witnesses. According to counsel, the other jurors informed the non-hearing juror of what the witness's testimony had been. There was no allegation that the juror had been misinformed as to the witness's testimony. Denney, 4 Wn. App. at 605. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's denial of Denney's motion to arrest judgment, finding that the witness's testimony was immaterial to the charge, and as such the trial court had not abused its discretion in determining that the defendant's right to a fair trial was not prejudiced. Id. at 607. The court also concluded that the record did not support a finding that a new trial was warranted based on the "inherent physical disqualification of the juror." Id.

Here, the trial court determined, and the State conceded, that Denney was not directly on point because Valle's testimony was more central to the issues at trial. 5RP 184-85, 195. However, the trial court properly recognized Denney to support the conclusion that whether or not

Bailey had been prejudiced in his right to a fair trial was a matter within its discretion.

Washington case law involving juror bias, discovered post-verdict, is instructive. This Court has held that in a post-verdict motion for new trial, where the moving party has made a *prima facie* showing of bias, an evidentiary hearing is the preferred, but not required, course of action. State v. Jackson, 75 Wn. App. 537, 543-44, 879 P.2d 307 (1994). In Jackson, the defendant presented a sworn affidavit from a juror post-verdict, stating that she had heard another juror make comments indicating his racial bias against African-Americans. 785 Wn. App. at 539-40. The defendant argued that he was entitled to a new trial due to the juror's failure to reveal this bias when questioned during *voir dire*. Id. at 542.

This Court held that due process required the trial court to have conducted an evidentiary hearing because the defendant had made a *prima facie* showing of bias, and because the specific facts of the case warranted it (the defendant and his alibi witnesses were all African-American and juror bias could easily influence its credibility determinations). In other words, not only had Jackson made a sufficient showing of a juror's racial bias based on credible, first-hand evidence, such racial bias was a central concern to the case.

This case is different. First, Bailey did not make a sufficient affirmative showing that one or more jurors did not hear crucial testimony. Rather than presenting sworn affidavits from the jurors themselves, with specific information about what they did or did not hear, Bailey instead relied solely on his attorney's recitation of vague information that the jurors provided during unsworn, informal conversation. It is unreasonable to believe that "half" of the jurors missed a substantial portion of Valle's testimony or that none of them spoke up and indicated on the record that they were having trouble hearing. Bailey simply did not present sufficient information that jurors missed crucial testimony.

Second, unlike Jackson, the circumstances of Bailey's case are not such that an evidentiary hearing was warranted. There was no dispute as to what Valle's testimony was. There was also no indication that any juror who might have missed a portion of Valle's testimony was incorrectly advised by other jurors as to what that testimony was. See Denney, 4 Wn. App. at 605 ("It is not contended the juror was incorrectly informed as to her testimony"). Bailey conceded that he was able to argue his theory of the case, based on Valle's testimony, during closing argument. 5RP 190, 196. Bailey also conceded that the jurors were able to observe Valle's demeanor. Id.

At the beginning of the case, the jury was told, “At all times, keep your minds open to the notes or memories of your fellow jurors.” 2RP 24.

At the conclusion of the case, the jury was instructed:

During your deliberations, you may discuss any notes that you have taken during the trial, if you wish. You have been allowed to take notes to assist you in remembering clearly, not to substitute for your memory or the memories or notes of other jurors. Do not assume, however that your notes are more or less accurate than your memory.

You will need to rely on your notes and memory as to the testimony presented in this case. Testimony will rarely, if ever, be repeated for you during deliberations.

If, after carefully reviewing the evidence and instructions, you feel you need to ask the court a legal or procedural question that you have been unable to answer, write the question out simply and clearly. In your question, do not state how the jury has voted. The presiding juror should sign and date the question and give it to the bailiff. I will confer with the lawyers to determine what response, if any, can be given.

CP 65.

Despite being provided a mechanism through which they could ask the court questions, the jury never asked about what to do in the event they missed a portion of the testimony, nor did they ask to have any testimony repeated. 5RP 196. Therefore, the jury appears to have resolved any questions it might have had about Valle’s testimony to its satisfaction. Courts are reluctant to inquire into how a jury arrives at its verdict.

Balisok, 123 Wn.2d at 117. The mental processes by which individual jurors reach their respective conclusions inhere in the verdict, and affidavits concerning them are inadmissible to impeach the verdict. Cox v. Charles Wright Academy, Inc., 70 Wn.2d 173, 179-80, 422 P.2d 515 (1967); State v. Ng, 110 Wn.2d 32, 43, 750 P.2d 632 (1988). See also State v. Marks, 90 Wn. App. 980, 986, 955 P.2d 406 (1998) (Jurors may provide only factual information regarding actual conduct, not about how such conduct affected their deliberations). In sum, if two jurors indicated that, because testimony would likely not be repeated for them, they relied on the notes of the jurors who could hear Valle, such statements inhere in the verdict and cannot be considered by the court.

Finally, unlike Jackson (where the defendant and his alibi witnesses were African-American, and a juror had exhibited bias against African-Americans), this case did not hinge solely on the credibility of Valle and Chang. As the trial court pointed out when denying Bailey's motion for a new trial, there were two independent witnesses, Kisha Brown and Leonard Weekly, who both corroborated Chang's version of events, and discredited Valle's. 5RP 196. Moreover, Valle was impeached with her prior inconsistent guilty plea statement that she signed under penalty of perjury. 5RP 196. Her explanation (that she did not read the statement, and did not want to tell anyone "the real story" due to

embarrassment) was easily discredited by the fact that she was willing to come to court and tell her embarrassing story to strangers in Bailey's trial. Again, there was no indication that any juror who might not have heard her explanation was given incorrect information by the other jurors about what she testified to. Finally, the text messages sent between Bailey and Valle just minutes before Brown called 911 fully corroborate Chang's version of events. The jurors did not render a verdict based solely on a credibility determination between Valle and Chang.

In sum, the determination as to whether a juror was so inattentive that the defendant was prejudiced is a matter addressed to the trial court's discretion, and is reviewable only for abuse. State v. Hughes, 106 Wn.2d 176, 204, 721 P.2d 902 (1986). Bailey's vague hearsay information was insufficient to provide an affirmative showing that his right to a fair trial was materially affected. CrR 7.5(a). Given the facts of this case, this Court cannot say that it was an abuse of discretion to deny Bailey's motion without holding a fact-finding hearing.

Bailey cites to a number of out-of-state cases⁴ for the proposition that the trial court had an obligation to question the jurors to ascertain what they did or did not hear. See Brf. of Appellant at 14-16. However, all of the cited cases involve the same inapposite fact-pattern. In each of them, the trial court was alerted to the potential problem of a sleeping juror *prior to deliberation and prior to the verdict*.⁵ Although a trial court has a continuous obligation to ensure that the jury is able to perform its duties, the trial court here was unaware of any potential problem until *after* those duties had been completed—after the verdict was rendered. After the jury has been discharged, it is incumbent upon the defendant to make an affirmative showing that his substantial rights were materially

⁴ Bailey cites to State v. Hampton, 201 Wis.2d 662, 549 N.W.2d 756 (Wis. App. 1996), People v. South, 177 A.D.2d 607, 576 N.Y.S.2d 314 (N.Y. App. Div. 1991), People v. Valerio, 141 A.D.2d 585, 529 N.Y.S.2d 350 (N.Y. App. Div. 1988), Commonwealth v. Braun, 74 Mass. App. Ct. 904, 905 N.E.2d 124 (Mass. App. Ct. 2009), State v. Reevey, 159 N.J. Super. 130, 387 A.2d 381 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. 1978), and People v. Buel, 53 A.D.3d 930, 861 N.Y.S.2d 535 (N.Y. App. Div. 2008).

⁵ Together, RCW 2.36.110 and CrR 6.5 place a continuous obligation on the trial court to excuse any juror who is unfit or unable to perform the duties of a juror. State v. Jorden, 103 Wn. App. 221, 226-27, 11 P.3d 866 (2000). A trial court must “excuse from further jury service any juror, who in the opinion of the judge, has manifested unfitness as a juror by reason of ... inattention ... or by reason of conduct or practices incompatible with proper and efficient jury service. RCW 2.36.110. CrR 6.5 requires that, “If at any time *before submission of the case to the jury* a juror is found unable to perform the duties the court shall order the juror discharged.” CrR 6.5 (emphasis added). If a juror is truly sleeping, he should be dismissed. Jorden, 103 Wn. App. at 226-27. A trial court’s decision to excuse or not excuse a juror is reviewed for abuse of discretion. Hughes, 106 Wn.2d at 204; Jorden, 103 Wn. App. at 226-27. Courts are “unwilling to impose on the trial court a mandatory format for establishing such a record. Instead the trial judge has discretion to hear and resolve the misconduct issue in a way that avoids tainting the juror and, thus, avoids creating prejudice against either party.” Jorden, 103 Wn. App. at 226-27.

affected. CrR 7.5. Bailey's out-of-state authority relating to the *pre-verdict* obligations of a trial court is irrelevant.

Finally, should Bailey develop additional evidence outside the existing record to support a claim that his right to a fair trial was prejudiced, he is not left without recourse. The proper avenue for relief would be a timely, properly supported, personal restraint petition. State v. Tolias, 135 Wn.2d 133, 140, 954 P.2d 907 (1998); State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 335, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995).

2. EVEN IF THE TRIAL COURT WAS REQUIRED TO CONDUCT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING PRIOR TO RULING ON BAILEY'S MOTION, THE REMEDY IS NOT A NEW TRIAL.

Even if this Court decides that the trial court abused its discretion when it denied Bailey's motion for new trial without conducting an evidentiary hearing, the remedy would not be, as Bailey advocates, a new trial. Rather, in such event, this Court should remand for an evidentiary hearing to determine what testimony, if any, the jury missed, and what effect that might have had on Bailey's right to a fair trial.

Whether a juror, or jurors, committed misconduct is a question of fact for the court. Dean v. Group Health Co-op, 62 Wn. App. 829, 837, 816 P.2d 757 (1991). This Court held in Jackson, that where the defendant produced an affidavit outlining a *prima facie* showing of juror

bias, *and* where the facts of the case warranted, the trial court was required to have conducted an evidentiary hearing, because “it is possible that the State could have rebutted the inference of racial bias through further inquiry at an evidentiary hearing.” 75 Wn. App. at 544. The court went on to say, “Had that approach been taken, then the parties would have had the opportunity to examine juror X,” and “juror X would have had the opportunity to explain his statements and the context in which they were made.” Id.

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